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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
PENSACOLA DIVISION
Inre: FRANK LAY and Case No. 3:09mc62/MCR

ROBERT FREEMAN
SEALED ORDER

NOTICE AND ORDER OF CRIMINAL CONTEMPT PROCEEDINGS

On January 9, 2009, this court entered a temporary injunction (doc. 48)in Case No.
3:08¢cv361/MCR/EMT, prohibiting the School Board for Santa Rosa County, Florida
(“School Board"); Tim Wyrosdick, Superintendent of the School District of Santa Rosa
County, Florida (successor in office to John Rogers); H. Frank Lay, the principal of Pace
High School; and all of the School Board’s officers and employees, from promoting,
endorsing, or causing religious prayers during school-sponsored events.! On May 5, 2009,
the plaintiffs in that case filed a motion (doc. 86) for an order to show cause why the court
should not find Michelle Winkler, a nonparty School Board employee, in contempt of court
for violating the temporary injunction, based on her conduct of causing her husband to say
a prayer at a school-sponsored event. Within the motion, plaintiffs also made specific
reference to another possible willful violation of the temporary injunction by Principal Frank
Lay, a party to the action, and Athletic Director Robert Freeman, a nonparty School Board
employee. The plaintiff's motion, however, did not seek an order to show cause regarding
their conduct. Atoral argument on plaintiff's motion, plaintiff again referenced the conduct
of Lay and Freeman.

Based on the notice from plaintiffs to the court of Lay and Freeman’s conduct, the
court, pursuant to its inherent and statutory contempt power, hereby sua sponte initiates

' By its terms the order became effective on January 18, 2009.
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criminal contempt proceedings against Lay and Freeman for willfully violating the court's
temporary injunction order. See 18 U.S.C. § 401(3); Fed. R. Crim. P. 42(a).

Criminal contempt proceedings are punitive and serve to vindicate the court's
authority through the imposition of a criminal sanction against one who has willfully violated
acourt order. See Int'! Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821, 828
(1994);, Gompers v. Buck’s Stove & Range Co., 221 U S. 418, 441 (1911).2 While the
court’s contempt power should be used sparingly, “[t]his power has been uniformly held to
be necessary to the protection of the court from insults and oppression while in the ordinary
exercise of its duty, and to enable it to enforce its judgments and orders necessary to the
due administration of law and the protection of the rights of citizens.” Id. (internal marks
omitted). The court has statutory authority to punish acts in contempt of its orders by fine,
imprisonment, or both. See 18 U.S.C. § 401(3).

Consistent with the constitutional privileges and protections attendant to criminal
proceedings, Lay and Freeman are entitled to the benefit of a trial during which they will be
afforded the presumption of innocence, the privilege against self incrimination, the rightto
proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and the right to counsel. See Bagwell, 512 U.S.
at 826-27; Gompers, 221 U.S. at 444; Romero v. Drummond Co., 480 F.3d 1234, 1242-43
(11th Cir. 2007); United States v. City of Miami, 195 F.3d 1292 (11th Cir. 1999).

As required by Rule 42(a)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the
court now gives notice of the essential facts constituting the criminal contempt. The
temporary injunction, in relevant part, enjoined the defendants “and their officers, agents,
affiliates, subsidiaries, Servants, employees, successors, and all other persons or entities
in active concert or privity or participation with them” from engaging in the following
conduct:

1. Promoting, advancing, aiding, facilitating, endorsing, or causing religious
prayers or devotionals during school-sponsored events;

% A conviction of criminal contempt under 18 U.S.C. § 401(3) requires the govemment to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that a specific order was violated and that the violation was willful. United States
v. Bernadine, 237 F.3d 1279, 1282 (11th Cir. 2001).

Case No.: 3:09mc62/MCR
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4. Permitting school officials to promote their personal religious beliefs and
proselytize students in class or during school-sponsored events and
activities; and

5. Otherwise unconstitutionally endorsing or coercing religion.

(Order, Jan. 9, 2009, doc. 48.) The order required the defendants to provide a copy of it
to all Santa Rosa School District officials, staff, faculty, and other employees and agents.?
On January 28, 2009, after the effective date of the court’s temporary injunction and with
knowledge of it, Lay asked Freeman to offer a prayer of blessing during a school-day
luncheon for the dedication of a new field house at Pace High School. Freeman complied
with the request and offered the prayer at the event.* It appears this was a school-
sponsored event attended by students, faculty, and community members.

Accordingly, it is ORDERED:

1. Frank Lay and Robert Freeman are each required to appear before the court at
9:00a.m., Central Standard Time, on September 17, 2009, to show cause why they should
not be held in criminal contempt of court, pursuantto 18 U.S.C. § 401(3) and Fed. R. Crim.
P. 42(a). The trial will be held in Courtroom 4 North, United States District Court for the
Northern District of Florida, Pensacola Division, located at One North Palafox Street,
Pensacola, Florida 32502.

2. Frank Lay and Robert Freeman each have the right to the representation of
counsel, the presumption of innocence, the privilege against self incrimination, to prepare
adefense and to present witnesses, and to proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt before
any criminal sanction may be imposed.

3. The court hereby requests that this matter be prosecuted by the United States
Attorney’s Office for this district. See Fed. R. Crim. P, 42(a)(2). Unless this request is

® The temporary injunction expired on May 6, 2009, when this court granted permanent injunctive
relief by means of a consent decree and order (doc. 94), fashioned by agreement of the parties,

¢ The motion for an order to show cause directed at Michelle Winkler filed by the plaintiffs in the main
action (doc. 86) and attached exhibits (doc. 86-2), are appended to this order. These documents also contain
detailed allegations of the violation by Lay and Freeman.

Case No.: 3:09mc62/MCR
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declined in writing by that office by July 27, 2009, the court so appoints the United States
Attorney’s Office to prosecute the contempt.

4. This prosecution will be tried to the court.

5. The clerk shall forward a copy of this order to the United States Marshal Service
for prompt service on Frank Lay at 757 South Spencer Field Road, Pace, Florida 32571,
and Robert Freeman at 2889 Camp Grace Road, Pace, Florida 32571.

DONE AND ORDERED this 20th day of July, 2009.

M. CASEY RODGERS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Case No.: 3:09mc62/MCR
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENSACOLA DIVISION
MINOR 1. DOE, et al ;
Plaintiffs,
v, No.: 3:08-cv-361 MCR/EMT
SCHOOL BOARD FOR SANTA

ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA; et a.;

Defendants.
/

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE
WHY THE COURT SHOULD NOT FIND CONTEMPT

COME NOW Plaintiffs by and through the undersigned counsel, and
request the Court enter an order‘commanding Michelle Winkler, an
employee of the School Board for Santa Rosa County, Florida, show cause
why the Court should not hold her in contempt for violating the Court’s

preliminary injunction (DE 48), based upon the following:

1. On August 27, 2008, Plaintiffs MINOR I. DOE and MINOR 1.
DOE filed a Complaint (DE 1) asserting claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983 against Defendants. The Plaintiffs alleged that school officials have
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used their government positions throughout the School District of Santa
Rosa County, Florida, (“School District™) to persistently and pervasively
promote their personal religious beliefs in the public schools and at school

events, in part, by conducting or sponsoring prayer at school events.

2. The Defendants admitted liability for the allegations in the
Complaint and for the violations of the U.S. Constitution’s Establishment

Clause and the Florida Constitution’s No-Aid Provision. DE 44 at 5-6.

3. With the Defendants having admitted liability, the Court at a
January 9, 2009, case management conference recognized that the
Defendants and school officials might continue their policies, practices, and
customs of advancing religion in violation of the Establishment Clause and
that such violations would cause irreparable harm. See, e. g.. Elrod v. Burns,
427 U.S. 347, 373 (1976) (citation omitted) (“The loss of First Amendment.
freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, unquestionably constitutes
ureparable injury.”), followed by KH Outdoor. LLC v. City of Trussville, 458
F.3d 1261, 1271-72 (11th Cir. 2006). Accordingly, while the parties worked
out a consent decree, the Court preliminarily enjoined the Defendants and

the School Board’s employees from continuing to advance religion. DE 48.

Page 2 of 10
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Specifically, the Court enjoined all School Board employees from
“[plromoting, advancing, aiding, facilitating, endorsing, or causing religious

prayers or devotionals during school-sponsored events.” Jd. at 91.

4. The Court ordered the Defendants to provide a copy of this
Order (DE 48) to “all Santa Rosa School District officials, staff, faculty, and
other School District employees and agents.” Jd. at 2. On information and
belief, the Defendapts complied with the Court’s Order (DE 48) by
distributing a copy of the Order to every School Board employee and others.
On information and belief, the Defendants demanded each School Board
employee sign his or her signature upon receipt of the Order to evidence the

receipt of the Order.

5. Notwithstanding the Court’s preliminary injunction effective
noon on January 19, 2009 (DE 48) and despite having notice of the Court’s
Order, Ms. Winker, a School Board employee, intentionally violated

paragraph 1 of that Order in the following manner:

(a)  In preparation for the February 20, 2009, Employee of
the Year Banquet at Sykes Banquet Hall on Whiting Field (Naval Air

Station), District Adminjstrator Jud Crane, Director of Purchasing and

Page 3 of 10
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Contract Administrator, requested that Ms. Winkler, an administrative

assistant, offer a “thought for the day” at the event. Ex. 86-02 at 8-9.

(b) In light of the Court’s Order, Ms. Winkler asked Mr.
Crane if she would be permitted—*off the record”—to offer a prayer. Ex.
86-02 at 8-9. Ms. Winkler explained that she would like to offer the prayer
and “will suffer whatever consequences for” it. Jd. at 8. While Mr. Cl:ane
sympathized with Ms. Winkler’s position, after Mr. Crane checked with
Defendant Superintendent, Mr. Crane instructed her that she would not be
permitted to offer a prayer. J/d at 5-7. In response, Ms. Winkler agreed to
not offer the prayer, but still present the “thought of the day” because “[they]

are in a battle and there are diverse ways to fight it.” Id at 6.

(c)  On information and belief, at the Employee of the Year
Banquet, when Ms. Winkler was to give her “thought of the day,” she
appeared with her husband, who is not 2 School Board employee, and
explained because she was not able to offer a prayer, her husband would
offer one in her stead. On information and belief, thereafter, on Ms.
Winkler’s prompting her husband offered a prayer at the school-sponsored

event. School District studenis and faculty, the Superintendent, community

Page 4 of 10
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members, and one or more member of the School Board were present at the
Employee-of-the-Year Banquet. See Ex. 86-02 at 17. On information and
belief, no one cither interceded and stopped Ms. Winkler or her husband or,
if this was not possible, explained immediately after the prayer to the
audience (and to Ms. Winkler) that the prayer at the school event was
inappropriate, violated the Court’s order, and wil] not be accepted within the

School District.

(d) In response to this flagrant violation, by memorandum
dated March 10, 2009, Linda Novota, a supervisor, explained that Mr. Crane
had informed Ms. Winkler that “a prayer could not be given either by an
employee or a non-employee,” Ms. Winkler had no authority to have her
husband offer a prayer, and that she should not do so in the future. Ex. 86-
02 at 26. On information and belief, Ms. Winkler refused to acknowledge
receipt of the memorandum by si gning it. On information and belief,
Defendants have taken no further action and Ms. Winkler has received no

meaningful discipline by Defendants for her violation of this Court’s order.

6. In an unrelated incident—one for which Plaintiffs are not

currently seeking contempt, but continue to investigate—School District

Page 5 of 10
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leadership likewise failed to properly remediate a violation of the Court’s

order:

(@)  During a school-day luncheon on Wednesday, January
28, 2009, at the Dedication of the new Field House at Pace High School,
Defendant Principal Frank Lay asked Robert Earl Freeman, Pace High
Athletic Director, to offer a prayer to bless the food. See Ex. 86-02 at 1-4
(“In a traditional manner [Mr. Lay] asked Athletic Director, Robert Freeman
to bless the food for the adults in attendance. Respectfully he responded to
[Mr. Lay’s] request.” /d. at 1. “Principal Frank Lay asked [Mr. Freeman] to
give thanks for our lunch, which [Mr. Freeman] did.” Id. at 2. “[Mr. Lay]
asked Robert Freeman to ask a blessing on the food. [Mr. Lay] shared that
[he is], and [was] at the date of this incident, aware of the court injunction
and aware that this type of action is not permissible under the injunction.”

Id atp.3).

(b)  Upon Mr. Lay’s request, Mr. Freeman offered a prayer at
the event. Pace High students and faculty and community members were
present at the Dedication of the new Field House. In response to Mr. Lay

asking Mr. Freeman to pray and Mr. Freeman praying at a school event on

Page 6 of 10
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Jan. 28, 2009, Defendant Superintendent instructed Mr. Lay and Mr.
Freeman to “avoid this type of action as it not permitted or [sic] as per the
attached injunction.” Ex. 86-02 at 3-4. Although the actions of Mr. Lay and
Mr. Freeman appear to be in violation of the court’s preliminary injunction,
Defendant Supcrimendcrﬁ nevertheless ends his “reprimand” by thanking

them “for [their] leadership at Pace High School.” 1d.

(¢)  This second incident and the leadership’s response
evidence the continued practices within the District. Counsel for the
Plaintiffs continues to investigate this matter and the chlpability of those

involved.

7. Counsel for the Plaintiffs is investigating additional issues,

which are premature to be brought to the Court’s immediate attention.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable

Court to do the following:

(a)  order Michelle Winkler to show cause why the Court should
not find her in contempt of the Court’s Order (DE 48) and require her to pay
the Plaintiffs’ attorney fees and costs associated with the filing of this

motion, along with whatever other action the Court deems appropriate;

Page 7 of 10
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(b)  order the Defendants to produce any other records or
communication relating (1) the Winkler violation, (2) the apparent violation
by Mr. Lay and Mr. Freeman, and (3) any other violation of the Court’s

Preliminary Injunction Order (DE 48);

(c)  order the Defendants to prohibit Ms. Winkler from speaking
generally to the audience at a school event until such time that she agrees, in

writing, to comply with the Court’s orders in this matter; and

(d)  order the Defendants to identify all circumstances for the period
of January 19, 2009, through June 1, 2009, in which a prayer occurred or
occurs at a school-sponsored event or on school grounds and explain why
these prayers do not violate the Court’s Order (DE 48) or the Consent

Decree and Order, if approved by the Court.

Pagc 8 of 10
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N.D. Fra. Loc. R. 7.1(B) CONFERENCE COMPLIANCE

Over the course of the past month and one-half, Plaintiffs’ counse] has
conferred with the Defendants’ counse! in a good faith effort to resolve by
agreement the issues raised in this motion. In a number of letters and
telephone calls, the partics atiempted to agree mutually on a proper course of
action to remediate these past violation(s) so to ensure they are not repeated.
Ulumately, the parties could not agree on remediation as an alternative to

this motion. The Defendants oppose the relief sought.

Page 9 of 10



Case 3:09-mc-00062-MCR  Document 1-2 *SEALED"*

Dated: May 4, 2009

Filed 07/20/2009

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

s/ Benjamin James Stevenson

Benjamin James Stevenson (Fla.
Bar. No. 598909)

American Civil Liberties Union
Found. of Florida

Post Office Box 12723

Pensacola, FL 32591-2723

bstevenson@aclufl.org

Tel: 786.363.2738

Fax: 786.363.1985

Glenn M. Katon (Fla. Bar. No.
636894)

American Civil Liberties Union
Found. of Florida

Post Office Box 18245

Tampa, FL 33679

gkaton@aclufl.org

Tel: 813.254.0925

Fax: 813.254.0926

Randall C. Marshall (Fla. Bar No.:
181765)

RMarshall@aclufl.org

Maria Kayanan (Fla. Bar No.:
305601)

MKayanan@aclufl.org

American Civil Liberties Union
Found. of Florida

4500 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 340

Miami, Florida 33137

Tel: 786.363.2707

Fax: 786.363.1108

Daniel Mach (D.C. Bar No.:
461652)

dmach@aclu.org

Heather L. Weaver (D.C. Bar No.:
495582)

hweaver@aclu.org

ACLU Program on Freedom of
Religion and Belief

915 15th Street, NW

Washington, DC 20005

Tel: 202.675.2330

Fax: 202.546.0738

Counsel for Plaintiffs
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~

PACE HIGH SCHOOL B FRANK LAY
_ . ‘rincipa
4065 Nor'rls Roe'x-d BRAD MARCILLIAT
Pace, Florida 32571 Assistant Principal
(850) 995-3600 GRADY H. CANNON
Fax (850) 995-3620 Assistant Principal
www.santarosa.k12.fl.us DANNY RETHERFORD
Assistant Principal

February 4, 2009

Mr. Wyrosdick and Mr. Lynn,

On January 28" 2009 Pace High School hosted 2 luncheon for past footbal] booster club
members and other adults associated with the school system that were active in the
development of our new field house. Culinary class students were in charge of the food
preparation and serving. In a traditional manner I asked Athletic Director, Robert
Freeman to bless the food for the adults in attendance. Respectfully he responded to my
request. ] accept full responsibility for this action. My actions were overt and not meant

to circumvent any court order or constitutional mandate.

Respectiully,

< s

~

; / <"
~H. Frank Lay

Principal

——— e
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